
 

 

SACRAMENTO AREA COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

(RFP # 2016 - 005) 

REGIONAL BIKE SHARE SYSTEM OPERATIONS AND EQUIPMENT 

ADDENDUM NO. 1 

May 13, 2016 

 

This Addendum No. 1 includes the following responses to questions received from interested 
parties.  Please complete and include the Addendum Acknowledgement Form (attached) in 
your proposal. 
 
 
Q1: Is it permitted for a Respondent to submit multiple equipment solutions in one RFP 

response?  
 

A1: Proposals that include multiple equipment solutions within a single Proposed Course of 
Action can be submitted as one RFP response (See Section IX. 4c “Proposed Course of 
Action”).  For instance, an operator could propose a mixed fleet of smart bikes and pedal-
assist bikes while justifying that Proposed Course of Action through the remaining parts 
of the proposal (e.g., Budget, Project Schedule, Required & Desired System Elements, 
etc.). 
 
However, multiple equipment solutions that are presented as alternatives, each requiring 
a different course of action (as stand-alone options) will require multiple proposals in 
response to the RFP, even if they are submitted by the same firm.  It is important that 
SACOG is able to compare each proposal as a discreet Proposed Course of Action based 
on the selection criteria shown in Section X. “PROPOSAL EVALUATION AND 
SELECTION.” 

 
Q2: Page 19 section 4f: Please clarify the number of bicycles and stations you would like us 

to include for the purpose of budgeting and cost proposal. 
 
A2: Section IV.2 “Scope of Work” states that the selected contractor “will be responsible for 

all aspects of an integrated Regional Bike Share System of 80-100 stations and 600-1000 
bikes serving the cities of Sacramento, West Sacramento, and Davis.”   
 
At this time, a more definitive estimate of the number of bicycles and stations is not 
available.  As set forth in the RFP, and summarized below, the selected Contractor will 



be charged with reviewing existing recommendations regarding the potential for a Bike 
Share System, and recommending and designing a system for an appropriate number of 
bikes and stations within SACOG’s budget.  If your cost will vary based on the ultimate 
number of bikes and stations, please clearly explain the basis for your estimated costs in 
your completed Exhibit 10-H.     

 
On page 7, Scope of Work, Task 1 states that “The Contractor will conduct site analysis 
and permitting, including: … Recommended System size, measured in number of stations 
area, bikes, stations areas per square mile, average distance between station areas, and 
number of station areas in disadvantaged communities.”  In addition, this section states:  
“SACOG staff will request that the selected operator consider the recommendations in 
Appendix A as a starting point for understanding our Regional Bike Share System’s 
potential ridership demand and success.  Please complete the System Planning Table in 
Appendix B and include this in your proposal.”   
 
As stated in the RFP, “SACOG does not seek to limit the creativity of the respondents.  
Therefore, respondents are encouraged to propose innovative business models, additional 
opportunities and technology advances as part of their proposal.” 
 
SACOG has  $3,200,000 in federal funding available for  the initial system capital and 
installation costs.  These funds cannot be applied to operations or maintenance costs 
related to recapitalization.  This is further clarified in Section IX. 4(f) “Budget”, where 
“Proposed budgets may assume up to $3.2 million dollars in CMAQ funds from SACOG 
will be available for capital costs.” 
 
SACOG expects operators to develop an innovative business model that takes all of this 
information into account.  For more information about innovative business models, 
please review SACOG’s system goals on pages 5 and 6, as well as Proposal Evaluation 
and Selection Criteria descriptions on pages 22 and 23. 

 
Q3: Page 25-29, Exhibit 10-H: The cost proposal form is designed for “Design, Engineering 

and Environmental Studies” and is not typical for bike share equipment and operations. 
Will the SACOG consider another format that is more suitable for our industry? We 
typically quote equipment and setup separate from operations, and the operations costs 
are usually quoted on a per bike or per docking point cost per year. 

 
A3: If you typically quote equipment and setup separate from operations, please submit two 

cost proposals – one for Phase I of the Project, and one for Phase II of the Project.   
 
Because SACOG is utilizing federal funds via Caltrans for Phase I of the Bike Share System,   

each cost proposal (for both Phase I and Phase II) must be submitted in the standard 
Caltrans Local Assistance Procedures Manual 10-H format and must clearly explain the 
basis for payment and reflect all labor costs, fringe benefit costs, indirect costs, fee 
(profit), as well as other direct costs (without mark-up). 
 
This format is important to maintain eligibility of federal capital funds and costs as the 
agreement between SACOG and the operator will be submitted to Caltrans as part of their 
audits and review process.  While operations costs will not use federal funds, such as 



those quoted on a per bike or per docking point cost, all cost proposals must still be 
provided in the Exhibit 10-H format, but further explanation can also be provided with 
additional detail suitable for the bike share industry in Section IX. 4(f) of the “budget” 
within the proposal. 
 

Q4: Would SACOG consider extending the due date for the RFP to 30 days from the SACOG 
release of answers to questions? 

 
A4: SACOG is not considering extensions for proposal submittals at this time.   
Q5: Is it acceptable to submit a DBE plan with a proposed DBE entity that has not been 

approved or created yet? 
 
A5: As stated in the RFP, the DBE goal for this contract is 10.73%.  If an entity is not a 

certified DBE at the time the proposal is submitted, its participation cannot be counted 
toward meeting this goal.   

 
Q6: Or does the DBE have to be in existence prior to proposal submission? 
 
A6: Yes.  See answer as described in A5.  However, there is nothing preventing a firm from 

establishing a new entity that will become DBE certified at a later date.  It just will not 
count toward DBE participation if the firm is not certified at the time the proposal is 
submitted.. 

 
Q7: For project financing, accounting, and liability reasons, it is common in the industry to 

set up a new local entity to deliver on a contract. Would it be possible for the City to 
enter into a contract with a newly formed entity after award? 

 
A7: If a firm proposes to develop a newly formed entity for purposes of project financing, 

accounting, and liability reasons, that proposal should be included in the Proposed Course 
of Action. 
 
To clarify, SACOG has released this RFP and intends that SACOG will enter into 
agreements as a result of this process.  SACOG’s member agencies, such as cities, are not 
currently considering entering into agreements with SACOG’s selected operator.  On 
page 7 of the RFP, SACOG “encourages technological, business model and 
programmatic innovation. Therefore, the respondent may adapt or change the subsequent 
list as long as an explanation is included for omissions or additions.”  If a firm proposes a 
different agreement and governance structure, the firm will need to include an 
explanation for that additional scope. 

 
Q8: Or must the bidding entity be the one to fulfill the contract? 
 
A8: SACOG would expect to enter into a contract with the bidding firm to complete work as 

described in the proposal and as negotiated as part of the executed contract. 
 
Q9: If the latter, is it possible to assign the contract to the newly formed local entity? 
 



A9: If a firm proposes to assign the contract to a newly formed local entity, that proposal 
should be included in the Proposed Course of Action.  However, SACOG may require the 
bidding firm to remain jointly responsible for the completion of the project.  

 
Q10: Please describe the permitting process for the program. Will there be one blanket permit 

or a separate application for each site? What level of detail will be required? Will a 
licensed engineer’s stamp be needed? The permitting process can have a large impact on 
the start-up budget, and more information will help us to better understand our costs. 

 
A10: SACOG is working closely with its bike share partner agencies to streamline permitting.  

However, at this time, the final permitting process has not been determined. While 
members of the Bike Share Policy Steering Committee and Project Management Team 
have reviewed proposals for permitting processes that do not require separate 
applications for each site, they have not yet reviewed and approved of a streamlined 
process.  While the eventual process may not require a level of detail customary for 
construction projects as designed by an engineer or the need for a licensed engineer’s 
stamp, for the purpose of this RFP and developing a cost proposal, please assume that 
this level of detail will be required.  

 
Q11: We have worked on numerous federally funded projects that were able to release at least 

partial up-front payments. Please confirm that no partial up-front payments will be 
disbursed. Please confirm whether payment in arrears can happen upon delivery or will 
occur after installation, launch, or another milestone. 

 
A11: Page 22, “Technical Criteria, Operator Capacity, Project Understanding and Capacity” 

describes how “Financial responsibility, including firm’s financial ability to comply with 
federal payment requirements, to finance the setup of the System, and to accept payment 
in arrears for work and services provided” will be part of the 18 points included in this 
evaluation criteria. 
 
Page 24 describes the Payment Schedule, where “the consultant will be paid in arrears, 
based upon the payment schedule agreed to in the contract.  The consultant should 
forward a copy of all invoices for payment for work performed and associated expenses 
by the 15th day of the following month.  At SACOG’s discretion, SACOG may withhold 
ten percent (10%) of the payments until the successful completion of the project and the 
delivery and acceptance of all final products.”  This monthly billing process will release 
funding during and after installation, launch or other milestones.  
Chapter 10 of the Caltrans Local Assistance Procedures Manual (LAPM), Invoicing, 
page 11, notes that “State and federal law requires that all federal and most state funded 
local agency project payments be done on a reimbursement basis. Therefore, the local 
agency must incur and pay for project costs prior to invoicing Caltrans for 
reimbursement.”  In this case, SACOG is the local agency incurring costs.   However, it 
is possible that SACOG could seek approval for Caltrans’s Alternative Construction 
Progress Payment Procedure, as described on page 13, Chapter 10, of the LAPM. 
 
In developing a contractual scope of work and milestones for payment with the selected 
consultant, SACOG may agree to provide some level of reimbursement in arrears for 
equipment upon delivery, prior to the completion of installation or launch.  Alternatively, 



SACOG could seek authorization from Caltrans to obtain funding in advance for capital 
expenditures.  If any portion of a Consultant’s proposal is conditioned on the ability to 
obtain reimbursement upon delivery or an advance from Caltrans, that must be clearly 
noted in the proposal. 

 
Q12: For the Connect Transit Card, who is the card manufacturer and what model of card is 

it? What is the RFID frequency? What RFID protocol does the card use? 
 
A12: SACOG’s Connect Card is a MiFare Classic 4k manufactured by ABnote.  The RFID 

Frequency is 13.56 Mhz and the RFID protocol is ISO 14443.  For more information 
about the Connect Card, please visit connecttransitcard.com.  For those who submit 
proposals, SACOG can send your point of contact a sample Connect Card for use during 
interviews on June 8th for hardware and software demonstrations.  Please make this 
request clear in your proposal’s Transmittal Letter. 

 



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM TO 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

(RFP # 2016 - 005) 

REGIONAL BIKE SHARE SYSTEM OPERATIONS AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Instructions:  Complete and sign this form.  Enclose the original copy of the acknowledgement in 
your proposal.  Failure to do so may result in disqualification of your firm’s proposal. 
 
The undersigned acknowledges receipt of Addendum No. 1 dated May 13, 2016. 

 
 
Printed Name: ______________________________________________________ 
 
 
Signature: ______________________________________________________ 
 
 
Title: __________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Firm: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Address: _______________________________________________________ 
 
     _______________________________________________________ 


